FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/21/2025 3:12 PM BY SARAH R. PENDLETON CLERK

Case #: 1042078

SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON

SUPREME COURT NO. _____

NO. 864220-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

KESTER PHILLIPS,

Plaintiff-Petitioner,

v.

SWEDISH HEALTH SERVICES,

Defendant-Respondent.

PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Sean D. Leake, WSBA #52658 Sheryl J. Willert, WSBA #08617 WILLIAMS, KASTNER & GIBBS PLLC 601 Union Street, Suite 4100 Seattle, WA 98101-2380 Ph: (206) 628-6600 Fx: (206) 628-6611 Attorneys for Petitioner Kester Phillips

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Review is necessary to resolve questions under RAP 13.4(b)(3) and RAP 13.4(b)(4) because this case involves significant questions under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States, and involves issues of substantial public interest. The issues presented are:

1. Whether the Court of Appeals erred by finding RCW 49.44.085 is preempted by the Federal Arbitration Act ("FAA") despite Dr. Phillips' employment contract containing a dispute resolution clause which invoked solely Washington law—ch. 7.04A RCW specifically—and was silent on the FAA.

2. Whether the Court of Appeals erred by finding RCW 49.44.085 is preempted by the FAA when no court has found a basis for federal jurisdiction to invoke the FAA, and Dr. Phillips' employment agreement does not involve interstate commerce or any statutory basis for federal jurisdiction.

3. Whether the Court of Appeals erred by applying the FAA to the employment agreement when the FAA's savings clause allows state contract defenses of general applicability.

4. Whether the Court of Appeals erred by finding the key factor in whether RCW 49.44.085 applied was whether Dr. Phillips could publicly pursue his WLAD claim, even if that claim was in arbitration despite the employment contract calling for secret arbitration, no discovery, and strict confidentiality.

Whether the Court of Appeals erred by holding an arbitrator, not a Court, would determine whether Dr. Phillips' WLAD claims are arbitrable.

2. Whether the Court of Appeals' published opinion involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be

determined by the Supreme Court, and therefore warrants review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) when the Court of Appeals substantially expands and therefore alters the application of federal law through the Federal Arbitration Act—to purely state contracts.

IV. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

Dr. Phillips is a neuro-oncologist, an immigrant, and a Black man, and until June 1, 2023, he served as the first Black male director of the Ivy Brain Tumor Center at the Swedish Neuroscience Institute, a department of Defendant-Appellant Swedish Health Services ("Swedish"). CP 1. Dr. Phillips filed claims alleging racial discrimination and constructive discharge pursuant to the Washington Law Against Discrimination ("WLAD"), RCW 49.60 et seq, because he was paid less than his White colleagues, was paid less than his White predecessor in violation of Swedish's policy, and was subject to a hostile workplace rife with racial animosity. Washington law is clear: such discrimination claims cannot be subject to arbitration, and provisions of employment contracts which purport to mandate

such arbitration are void. To the extent federal law is less restrictive on what claims can or cannot be arbitrated is irrelevant to this case.

As the Director of the Ivy Brain Tumor Center, Dr. Phillips led a team responsible for providing specialized care of terminally ill patients with brain and spine cancers. Declaration CP 60. For years, Dr. Phillips expressed concern about how Swedish's senior management team and administrative staff dismissed, ignored, and deflected his concerns about patient care. CP 60 – 61. On April 9, 2023 Dr. Phillips sent a letter detailing specifically the systematic, some examples include:

- Lack of basic knowledge of neuro-oncology practice standards by the clinic manager, including deficient scheduling, leading to compromised patient safety and death;
- Failure to train and supervise clinical staff, thus jeopardizing patient safety;
- Failure to address persistent staffing shortages; and,
- Failure to create a culture of respect that acts on employee advocacy needs.

CP 2 – 3.

A normal medical institution would respond positively to concerns raised by its own highly experienced brain tumor center medical director. Rather than collaborating with Dr. Phillips to remedy some or all of these problems, Swedish ignored and belittled his concerns. They went as far as to note that the previous White medical director did not raise the same concerns, implying that Dr. Phillips, as a Black man, was raising these concerns unnecessarily. CP 61.

Other abuses include: (1) paying Dr. Phillips less than his predecessor, a White doctor, in violation of Swedish's policy to pay its employees based on their position, rather than experience; (2) refusing to compensate Dr. Phillips for his time as clinical director, unlike other, non-Black directors; (3) reducing the support offered to Dr. Phillips as clinical director compared to his White predecessor; (4) subjecting Dr. Phillips to racially motivated comments and stereotypes of aggression, and accused of excessive complaining compared to his White predecessor; and (5) refusing to acknowledge Dr. Phillips' concerns, and sent a junior White nurse practitioner who had been in the clinic for two weeks to supervise his clinic. CP 61.

Dr. Phillips left Swedish on June 1, 2023, because he felt like he could not work in such a racially charged environment. CP at 20. He then sued on December 11, 2023, alleging constructive discharge and discrimination based on his race. *See* CP at 1-8. He is only pursuing claims under WLAD. *Id*.

Swedish moved to compel arbitration, which the trial court correctly denied, and this appeal followed.

V. <u>ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE</u> <u>ACCEPTED</u>

A. <u>RCW 49.44.085 Establishes a Statutory Contractual</u> <u>Defense to Enforcement of Mandatory Arbitration of</u> <u>Discrimination Claims</u>

RCW 49.44.085 was unanimously passed by the Legislature in 2018, and establishes a statutory defense to the enforceability of employment agreements which purport to require mandatory arbitration of discrimination claims under WLAD (ch. 49.60 RCW). See WA F. B. Rep., 2018 Reg. Sess.

S.B. 6313 (June 22, 2018). It provides:

A provision of an employment contract or agreement is against public policy and is void and unenforceable if it requires an employee to waive the employee's right to publicly pursue a cause of action arising under chapter 49.60 RCW or federal antidiscrimination laws or to publicly file a complaint with the appropriate state or federal agencies, or if it requires an employee to resolve claims of discrimination in a dispute resolution process that is confidential.

(emphasis added)

WLAD is to be "construed liberally to effectuate its purpose of remedying discrimination." *Gibson v. Costco Wholesale, Inc.*, 17 Wn. App. 2d 543, 556, 488 P.3d 869 (2021). This is because "'a plaintiff bringing a discrimination case in Washington assumes the role of a private attorney general, vindicating a policy of the highest priority." *Jin Zhu v. N. Cent. Educ. Serv. Dist.- ESD 171*, 189 Wn.2d 607 (2017). As the public testimony in support of the statute stated, "the bill ensures that employers cannot require secrecy when it comes to … harassment situations on the job." *See* Washington Committee Report, 2017 Washington Senate Bill No. 6313 (February 22, 2018). The right to be free of discrimination on the basis of race has been declared by our Legislature to be a civil right. RCW 49.60.030(1). Such a "statutory mandate of liberal construction requires that we view with caution any construction that would narrow the coverage of the law." *Marquis v. City of Spokane*, 130 Wn. 2d 97, 108 (1996). RCW 49.44.085 was passed unanimously by the Legislature to codify this right in employment contracts.

It does not apply specifically to arbitration (in fact, it doesn't even mention arbitration), but rather holds that any provision of an employment contract which restricts an employees' right to sue or file a complaint with the appropriate state or federal agency is void. It moreover holds that only *confidential* dispute resolution processes are void. The key question is therefore whether the employment contract wrongly restricts the right to file suit, or mandates secret dispute resolution processes. RCW 49.44.085 is therefore a contract defense, in essence a statutory determination of unconscionability of certain clauses in employment contracts. By eliminating employees right to raise such a claim, the Court of Appeals

B. <u>The Court of Appeals Error is Evident When</u> <u>Connecting RCW 49.44.085's Restriction on</u> <u>Unconscionable Clauses with the Substantively</u> <u>Unconscionable Clauses in Dr. Phillips' Employment</u> <u>Contract</u>

1. <u>The DRA Unconscionably Limits Dr. Phillips'</u> <u>Right to Damages</u>

A provision will be invalidated where it 'significantly curb[s] what an employee would recover against [an employer] compared to what the employee could recover under a statutory... claim." *Hill v. Garda CL Northwest, Inc.*, 179 Wn.2d 47, 55 – 56 (2013). Here, the arbitrator "shall not award punitive or exemplary damages" unless awarding such damages is "authorized" by law. DRA Section 2.6. In *Hill*, the Supreme Court invalidated as unconscionable an arbitration provision which also denied "punitive or exemplary damages" except if recovery "is specifically mandated by federal or state statute or law." *Id. see also* fn 4. The *Hill* court noted this provision was "prone to mischief" because it made damages which were otherwise mandatory, discretionary, to the sole benefit of the employer. *Id.*¹ The Hill court invalidated a substantively unconscionable arbitration agreement which limited damages even if the provisions had nothing to do with the question of whether they had to arbitrate: "[T]he provisions the employees claim are substantively unconscionable have nothing to do with whether they may arbitrate." *Hill*, 179 Wn.2d at 56.

Denying damages otherwise authorized unless "specifically mandated by federal or state statute or law," "curb[s] what an employee would recover" and is unconscionable. *Id.* See also *Zuver*, 153 Wn.2d at 318 (an

¹ It is of no consequence that Dr. Phillips here brought a WLAD claim which does not provide for punitive damages. The point is, the DRA preemptively limits the type of damages that Dr. Phillips can seek on any claim without regard for the type of damages the law provides for that particular claim.

employment contract that required an employee to release all rights to recover punitive or exemplary damages against her employer was unconscionable because it was unilateral and "blatantly and excessively favor[ed] the employer."). Since the DRA limits damages, it is substantively unconscionable.

2. <u>Requiring Confidentiality of Dr. Phillips'</u> <u>WLAD Claims is Unconscionable</u>

The agreement provides the arbitration will be conducted pursuant to AAA rules, which in turn mandates confidentiality. DRA Section 2.3, *see also* AAA Employment Rules 23 ("The arbitrator shall maintain the confidentiality of the arbitration and shall have the authority to make appropriate rulings to safeguard that confidentiality[.]") The Court of Appeals dismisses this concern, stating that the parties could agree to hold a public arbitration. Opp. at *5. But this misses the point: the agreement states it will be confidential, and RCW 49.44.085 invalidates such provisions regardless of whether the parties later agree. Our Supreme Court has regularly invalidated attempts to require confidential arbitrations as substantively unconscionable. *See Zuver*, 153 Wn.2d at 315, *McKee*, 164 Wn.2d at 398-399.

The same rationale applies here, rendering the confidentiality requirement - as mandated by the AAA Rules - unconscionable. Indeed, because other intentional acts by Swedish is relevant and "admissible to show motive or intent" for Dr. Phillips' claims, it would be unconscionable to cloak such information in confidential proceedings. Moreover, the public has a right to know if Swedish jeopardized public health and safety, violated Washington statutes, or retaliated against their employees. The confidentiality requirement is substantively unconscionable.

3. <u>Confidentiality Requirements are</u> <u>Unconstitutional for WLAD Claims</u>

Further, confidentiality requirements for discrimination claims are unconstitutional. Under article I, section 10 of the Washington Constitution requires open civil and criminal proceedings and thus requires the Court to hold that this provision substantively unconscionable. *See also*, RCW 49.60.020 (a person has a "right to institute court proceedings to protect themselves from discrimination"); RCW 49.60.030(2) a person "shall have a civil action in a court of competent jurisdiction"). WLAD is generally applicable, as is the antiwaiver provisions of RCW 49.44.085. The confidentiality provision is unconstitutional and inapplicable for WLAD claims.

4. <u>The Discovery Limitations Render the DRA</u> <u>Unconscionable to Dr. Phillips' Claims</u>

The DRA states "there shall be no discovery or dispositive motions." DRA at Section 2.3. It also does not allow for depositions, contrary to RCW 7.04A.170(2). RCW 7.04A.040(2)(a) prohibits parties from waiving this deposition provision in an arbitration agreement signed before a controversy arises. Moreover, this limitation obviously serves to the advantage of Swedish, since it has access to fact witnesses (its administrators, staff and employees), but denies Dr. Phillips such access.

Washington courts have found limits on discovery in arbitration to be unconscionable. For example, in *Woodward v*. Emeritus *Corp.*, the ruled arbitration court that an agreement's limits on discovery were unconscionable even though they applied to both parties, stating, "And it is not enough to argue, as Emeritus does, that it will be equally disadvantaged by the limitations of the Rules. It is foreseeable that most of the relevant evidence is in the possession of Emeritus ..., not the estate. And the estate bears the burden of proof." *Woodward v.* Emeritus Corp., 192 Wn. App. 584, 610 (2016).

Ultimately, the test is stated by the U. S. Supreme Court in *Gilmer v. Interstate/Johnson Lane Corp.* 500 U. S. 20, 31 (1991), which held that discovery procedures in arbitration clauses must afford plaintiffs "a fair opportunity to present their claims.". Courts around the country have refused to enforce arbitration provisions when those provisions would hinder a plaintiff's ability to present his or her claims. *See, e.g. Ostroff v. Alterra Healthcare Corp.*, 433 F. Supp.2d 538, 547 (E.D. Pa. 2006) (limitations on discovery in arbitration provision that impede plaintiff in presenting her claims was substantively unconscionable); *Hoffman v. Cargill, Inc.*, 968 F. Supp. 465, 475-76 (1997); *Booker v. Robert Half International, Inc.*, 315 F. Supp.2d 94, 103 (2004) (enforceable arbitration agreements must have "more than minimal" discovery).² Accordingly, this limitation on discovery renders the DRA substantively unconscionable and unenforceable.

C. <u>The FAA Permits State Contract Defenses Like RCW</u> <u>49.44.085</u>

The Court of Appeals wrongly concluded that Dr. Phillips' employment contract was governed by federal law, but their error was compounded by ignoring the FAA's savings clause.

² Swedish cites to cases which state the FAA's limit on discovery may not be substantively unconscionable. The FAA is not applicable to this case, as discussed above, but the DRA cannot be enforced under the WUAA or FAA because of these limits which violate WLAD.

Pursuant to the FAA, "[a] written provision in any ... contract evidencing a transaction involving commerce to settle by arbitration a controversy thereafter arising out of such contract ... shall be valid, irrevocable, and enforceable, save upon such grounds as exist at law or in equity for the revocation of any contract." 9 U.S.C. § 2.

"The savings clause of this provision permits a party to challenge an arbitration agreement pursuant to a generally applicable state law contract defense, such as fraud, duress, or unconscionability." *Shivkov v. Artex Risk Solutions, Inc.* 974 F.3d 1051, 1059 (9th Cir. 2020), citing *Doctor's Assocs., Inc. v. Casarotto*, 517 U.S. 681, 686–87 (1996). Moreover, these defenses are not preempted by the FAA as long as they apply equally to arbitration and non-arbitration agreements. *Blair v. Rent-A-Center, Inc.*, 928 F.3d 819, 825 (9th Cir., 2019) (A rule is generally applicable if it "appl[ies] equally to arbitration and non-arbitration and non-arbitration agreements."), citing *Sakkab v. Luxottica Retail N. Am., Inc.*, 803 F.3d 425, 432 (9th Cir. 2015). A rule is not

generally applicable if it "prohibits outright the arbitration of a particular type of claim." *Blair*, 928 F.3d at 825.

The Court of Appeals erred by failing to recognize RCW 49.44.085 establishes a contractual defense—which was properly raised by Dr. Phillips—to enforcing a generally applicable provision that does not specifically prohibit arbitration, but rather prohibits any attempt to restrict his ability to bring a discrimination claim in the superior court.

D. <u>The Federal Arbitration Act Does Not Apply, and</u> <u>Washington's Prohibition of Arbitration of these</u> <u>Claims is Not Preempted</u>

The Court of Appeals also erred by concluding Dr. Phillips' employment contract was preempted by the FAA, and in doing so, held that RCW 49.44.085 is preempted by the FAA despite its general applicability. The Court erred for two reasons. First, the parties contracted to apply <u>only</u> Washington's arbitration statute to the DRA. Based on the caselaw cited herein, it is common for employers to invoke the jurisdiction of both state and federal law when selecting the grounds for arbitrability.

If Swedish wanted the Federal Arbitration Act ("FAA") to apply to the DRA, it could have specified the FAA in the contract when it drafted it. Yet, there is absolutely <u>no</u> mention of the FAA in the DRA arbitration provision. Instead, Swedish purposefully and deliberately chose to arbitrate under Washington law. In specifying Washington law, the Court must presume that Swedish understood and accepted that discrimination claims were not subject to arbitration.

Second, Dr. Phillips job as a doctor at a single clinic in Seattle does not invoke interstate commerce. Since working in interstate commerce is a necessary predicate to invoking the jurisdiction of the FAA, the FAA cannot and does not apply.

1. <u>The DRA Expressly Provides it is Subject only to</u> Washington's Arbitration Statute, Not the FAA

The FAA does not apply to this case because the parties agreed that arbitration would only be conducted pursuant to the FAA. The DRA selects "the Washington arbitration statute, Chapter 7.04A RCW" as the law governing its application. It does not invoke and is completely silent on the jurisdiction of the FAA, and therefore the FAA does not apply. As a practical matter, this means the parties also agreed that they would not arbitrate if the FAA would apply, as the WUAA and the FAA are substantively and procedurally different, and therefore the contract would be materially different if the parties contracted for arbitration under the FAA rather than simply the WUAA. This is not, as the Court of Appeals characterizes, contracting out of federal law, but rather agreeing to contract in to arbitration only if it can be conducted solely pursuant to the WUAA.

a. <u>The Contract Swedish Agreed to Cannot be</u> <u>Modified After the Fact</u>

As arbitration is a matter of contract, Swedish should not now be allowed to modify the choice of law provision included in the adhesion contract it required Dr. Phillips to sign. *See McKee v. AT&T Corp.*, 164 Wn.2d 372, 384 (2008) ("We generally enforce contract choice of law provisions with certain exceptions."). No exception to Washington's general rule favoring enforcement of choice-of-law provisions applies where a contract selects Washington law. *See id*.

2. <u>RCW 49.44.085 Constitutes an Appropriate</u> <u>Exercise of Police Power by Washington to</u> <u>Protect Workers Within the State</u>

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