FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
7/16/2025 1:23 PM
BY SARAH R. PENDLETON
CLERK

SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON SUPREME COURT NO. 1042078

NO. 864220-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS, OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

KESTER PHILLIPS, Plaintiff-Petitioner,

VS.

SWEDISH HEALTH SERVICES, Defendant-Respondent.

RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Ryan P. Hammond, Bar No. 38888 rhammond@littler.com
Madhura Panjini, Bar No. 54370 mpanjini@littler.com
LITTLER MENDELSON, P.C.
One Union Square
600 University Street, Suite 3200
Seattle, Washington 98101.3122
206.623.3300

Attorneys for Respondent SWEDISH HEALTH SERVICES

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

VI. ARGUMENT WHY DISCRETIONARY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

A. Review of Orders Directing Arbitration Are Barred
Under the Federal Arbitration Act and the Washington
Uniform Arbitration Act.

Under either the Federal Arbitration Act ("FAA"), 9 U.S.C. § 1, et seq. or the Washington Uniform Arbitration Act ("WUAA"), Chapter 7.04A RCW, orders compelling arbitration are not immediately appealable.

The FAA represents Congress's intent "to move the parties to an arbitrable dispute out of court and into arbitration as quickly and easily as possible." *Sink v. Aden Enter. Inc.*, 352 F.3d 1197, 1200 (9th Cir.2003) (quoting *Moses H. Cone Mem'l Hosp. v. Mercury Constr. Corp.*, 460 U.S. 1, 22 (1983)). Section 16 of the FAA bars appeals of

RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW - 6

interlocutory orders compelling arbitration and staying judicial proceedings. 9 U.S.C. § 16(b)(2)-(3); *Gonzalez v. Coverall N. Am., Inc.*, 754 F. App'x 594, 595 (9th Cir. 2019); *Bushley v. Credit Suisse First Bos.*, 360 F.3d 1149, 1153 (9th Cir. 2004).

The same principle applies to the WUAA. See RCW 7.04A.280 (listing exhaustive list of grounds for appeal; does not include an appeal taken from an interlocutory order compelling arbitration); see also FutureSelect Portfolio Mgmt., Inc. v. Tremont Grp. Holdings, Inc., 413 P.3d 1, 5 (2018) (denying appeal of order compelling arbitration, in part, for failing to identify valid grounds for appeal) (citing cases); Flagg v. Turner, 151 Wash. App. 1029 (2009) ("an order compelling arbitration is not final and therefore is not appealable.") (citing Teufel Const. Co. v. American Arbitration Ass'n, 472 P.2d 572 (1970)).

As such, pursuant to the plain meaning of the FAA and WUAA, Dr. Phillips may not seek discretionary review of the Decision compelling arbitration at this juncture.

B. Discretionary Review Is Not Warranted Under RAP13.4(b)(3) or RAP 13.4(b)(4).

Even if orders compelling arbitration were appealable at this juncture, Dr. Phillips fails to meet his burden under RAP 13.4(b)(3) or RAP 13.4(b)(4) and review by this Court is not warranted.

Although Dr. Phillips presents his Petition as invoking constitutional issues, he conceded during oral argument that the issue at hand is contractual. Oral Arg. Tr. at 8:50-9:09 ("this case presents not an issue of constitutional interpretation, but... is really a matter of contract interpretation.") (emphasis added); see also Supreme Court. City of Spokane v. Taxpayers of City of Spokane, 758 P.2d 480 (1988) (constitutional claims that are not adequately briefed will not be considered by the court).

Furthermore, Dr. Phillips's Petition does not rise to the level of involving a substantial public interest. Dr. Phillips conceded that state law discrimination claims could be arbitrated so long as arbitration does not impose confidentiality, and that he did not give up his right to pursue his state law discrimination claims. Decision at 6.

Given his concessions, and an analysis of the record and caselaw, the appellate court properly remanded with an instruction to compel arbitration. Based on how the case was decided below, this Court should deny review and none of Dr. Phillips's scattershot arguments impact this analysis:

C. Both the FAA and WUAA Apply to the Arbitration Provision.

Swedish moved to compel arbitration under both the FAA and the WUAA. CP at 11-17. Dr. Phillips argues that FAA does not apply to the parties' Arbitration Provision. Petition at 18-26. Specifically, he claims (1) the Arbitration Provision only cited to the WUAA so the FAA does not apply; (2) his job at Swedish did not involve interstate commerce; and (3) "no court has found a basis for federal jurisdiction to invoke the FAA." *Id.* at 2-3, 18-26. Dr. Phillips's arguments miss the mark for several reasons:

1. The FAA Applies, Even When Not Expressly Mentioned.

Dr. Phillips argues that because the FAA is not mentioned in the parties' Arbitration Provision, it does not apply. Petition at 19-21. Dr. Phillips fails to recognize the broad applicability of the FAA, even where the parties' contract is silent on the matter. *See* CP at 12 (citing

cases); Op. Br. at 6-7 (citing cases); see also Coleman v. Impact Pub. Sch., 29 Wash. App. 2d 1045, 2024 WL 550246, at *1 (2024) (unpublished) (applying FAA even when not mentioned in arbitration agreement as it "applies to all employment contracts except for employment contracts of certain transportation workers.") (citing cases); cf. Rittmann v. Amazon.com, Inc., 383 F. Supp. 3d 1196, 1202-03 (W.D. Wash. 2019), aff'd, 971 F.3d 904 (9th Cir. 2020) (declining to enforce arbitration agreement where FAA's "transportation worker" exemption applied and where parties "explicitly contracted for Washington law to not apply to the Arbitration Provision," and noting "if the parties intended Washington law to apply if the FAA was found to be inapplicable, they would have said so or even remained silent on the issue.") (emphasis added); Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. v. Helferich Pat. Licensing, LLC, 51 F. Supp. 3d 713, 718-19 (N.D. Ill. 2014) (applying FAA notwithstanding state law incorporation as "the Agreement does not contain language evidencing any intent of the parties to specifically opt out of the FAA in favor of the Illinois Uniform Arbitration Act.").

Parties need not identify the FAA in an arbitration agreement as it *applies automatically* to employment contracts with limited exemptions not present here. *See e.g.*, *Vaden v. Discover Bank*, 556 U.S. 49, 58 (2009) (discussing that Congress enacted the FAA to overcome judicial resistance to arbitration" and to declare "a national policy favoring arbitration of claims that parties contract to settle in that manner") (internal quotation marks and citations omitted).

Conversely, the WUAA, does *not* automatically apply to employment agreements. RCW 7.04A.030 ("This chapter does not apply to any arbitration agreement between employers and employees or between employers and associations of employees."). As such, parties must expressly incorporate the WUAA for the state law to apply in employment agreements (as the parties did here). *See, e.g.*, *Burnett v. Pagliacci Pizza, Inc.*, 196 Wn.2d 38, 47 n.1 (2020) (parties may include WUAA in employment agreement) (citing cases).

One might ask why an employer would take a dual approach to drafting an Arbitration Provision. The answer is obvious: to ensure disputes between the employer and the employee are compelled to arbitration. For instance, if a dispute arises and a court were to find that the parties' agreement to arbitrate falls outside of the purview of the FAA—e.g. interstate commerce not implicated, "transportation worker" exemption applies—the state arbitration law, which may not have such requirements or carveouts, serves as a gap filler to ensure the parties' intent to arbitrate is effectuated.

Southwest Airlines v. Saxon is illustrative of this approach. There, the employer sought to enforce an arbitration agreement under the FAA with an employee, an airline ramp supervisor. Sw. Airlines Co. v. Saxon, 596 U.S. 450, 454 (2022). The employee argued that the FAA did not apply to her, citing the "transportation worker" exemption. Id. The Northern District of Illinois enforced the arbitration agreement. Id. The Seventh Circuit reversed. Id. at 454-55. The Supreme Court ultimately ruled that the employee "frequently loads and unloads cargo on and off airplanes that travel in interstate commerce" and therefore, was exempt from the FAA under the "transportation worker" exemption. Id. at 463.

A month after the Supreme Court remanded the *Saxon* case, the employer moved to compel arbitration under Illinois state law, which did not contain a "transportation worker" exemption. *Sw.*

Airlines Co. v. Saxon, No. 19-cv-403-SJC, ECF No. 96 at 3 (N.D. III. Mar. 10, 2023). The district court compelled arbitration, notwithstanding the employee's objection that the employer had waived its right to compel arbitration under state law because it has not raised these grounds in the initial motion to compel four years prior. *Id.* at 3-6, 9.

2. <u>Dr. Phillips's Position Implicates Interstate</u> Commerce.

Dr. Phillips argues that "[i]t is hard to imagine a profession less involved in interstate commerce than Dr. Phillips' [sic] provision of specialized medical care in a clinical setting for a hospital located in Seattle, *Washington*." Petition at 23-26 (emphasis in original). Dr. Phillips ignores Swedish's evidence, the appellate court's reasoning (Decision at 8-10), and fails to acknowledge decades-long caselaw on the interstate commerce requirement.

First, trial courts may take "judicial notice of public documents if the authenticity of those documents cannot be reasonably disputed." See Jackson v. Quality Loan Serv. Corp., 186 Wash. App. 838, 844 (2015) (citing Berge v. Gorton, 88 Wash.2d 756, 763 (1977); ER 201(b)(2)). Swedish properly cited to its 2022 IRS

Form 990 to support its interstate commerce argument. CP at 65; *see Hindu Am. Found., Inc. v. Kish*, No. 2:22-CV-01656-DAD-JDP, 2023 WL 5629296, at *2 (E.D. Cal. Aug. 31, 2023) (taking judicial notice of IRS Form 990) (citing cases). In relevant part, Swedish's IRS Form 990 reflects 13,822 individuals employed; millions of dollars of good and services provided by out-of-state contractors; millions of dollars in Medicare revenue; transactions with out-of-state financial institutions; and generally, discusses how Swedish delivers "services across seven states[.]"

Furthermore, as discussed during the oral argument, Dr. Phillips was required to maintain eligibility for Medicare funds. Oral Arg. Tr. at 7:05-8:15. Dr. Phillips's only response during oral argument was that he "really struggle[d] with that argument"— effectively a non-response as it is so obvious that Swedish (and, by virtue of being a former Swedish employee, Dr. Phillips too) engaged in interstate commerce such that the FAA applies. Oral Arg. Tr. at 13:21-14:35.

Second, an individual employee need not cross state lines for their employment to involve interstate commerce, so long as their

activity involves interstate commerce in the aggregate. Citizens Bank v. Alafabco, Inc., 539 U.S. 52, 56-57 (2003) (citing cases). Here, as described above, Swedish's work bears on interstate commerce in a "substantial way." Id. As such, its work (and the work of Dr. Phillips) necessarily involves interstate commerce. See, e.g., Valley View Health Care, Inc. v. Chapman, 992 F. Supp. 2d 1016, 1039 (E.D. Cal. 2014) (discussing "no legitimate dispute" that plaintiff medical providers engaged in interstate commerce "given their use and provision of goods and services and receipt of revenues").

D. RCW 49.44.085 Is Preempted by the FAA.

Under Dr. Phillips's theory, Petition at 7-10, 16-18, in any lawsuit in which a federal or state discrimination claim is pled, any agreement of the parties to arbitrate that claim was instantly invalidated on June 7, 2018, when RCW 49.44.085 took effect.

Put differently, Dr. Phillips argues that in a dispute between an employer and an employee in Washington, the fact that the plaintiff has pleaded a state or federal discrimination claim automatically means that dispute must be heard by a court and not by an arbitrator,

regardless of whether a valid arbitration agreement exists, effectively nullifying Section 2 of the FAA as to any and all such claims.

Dr. Phillips is mistaken and underscore his fundamental misunderstanding of state and federal precedent.

First, as Acting Chief Judge Bill A. Bowman aptly noted during oral argument, "we have a Supreme Court that said you can arbitrate [Washington Law Against Discrimination] claims[.]" Oral Arg. Tr. 17:35-17:40; see also Decision at 6-7 ("Furthermore, our Supreme Court in Adler rejected the argument that [Washington Law Against Discrimination] requires a judicial forum for discrimination claims.") (citing cases).

Second, the question is not whether arbitration is "specifically mention[ed]," Petition at 9, it's whether RCW 49.44.085 discriminates against arbitration agreements, either expressly or by disfavoring agreements that have the defining features of arbitration agreements. See Chamber of Com. of the United States of Am. v. Bonta, 62 F.4th 473, 486 (9th Cir. 2023).

The FAA's saving clause permits arbitration provisions to be invalidated by generally applicable contract defenses but does not

permit defenses that apply only to arbitration or that derive their meaning from the fact that an agreement to arbitrate is at issue to invalidate an otherwise valid arbitration agreement. *AT&T Mobility LLC v. Concepcion*, 563 U.S. 333, 339-40 (2011) (citing cases).

Bonta is directly instructive on this point. In Bonta, the Ninth Circuit reviewed a direct challenge by the U.S. Chamber of Commerce to Section 432.6 of the California Labor Code, which contained similar language to RCW 49.44.085. *Bonta*, 62 F.4th at 478; compare California Labor Code Section 432.6 ("A person [in an employment relationship] shall not . . . [be] require[d] . . . to waive any right forum, or procedure for a violation of [California antidiscrimination laws] . . . including the right to file or pursue a civil action or complaint") (emphasis added) with RCW 49.44.085 ("A provision of an employment contract . . . is void and unenforceable if it requires an employee to waive the employee's right to publicly pursue a cause of action arising under [Washington] or federal antidiscrimination laws ") (emphasis added).

The *Bonta* Court found the FAA preempted the California statute for several reasons. In relevant part:

- Although the California statute did not "expressly bar arbitration agreements" it "disfavor[ed] the formation of agreements that have the essential terms of an arbitration agreement." *Bonta*, 62 F.4th at 486. Because a person who enters into an arbitration agreement must necessarily "waive" their right to bring a civil action, the *Bonta* Court found the California statute "burdens the defining feature of arbitration agreements." *Id*.
- The California statute "single[d] out arbitration provisions as an exception" to generally applicable law as it limited employers by prohibiting "a contract with non-negotiable terms essential to an arbitration agreement." *Id.* at 487 (internal quotations and citations omitted).

The analysis in *Bonta* directly applies to RCW 49.44.085, and courts that have considered the issue have likewise found the Washington statute preempted by the FAA. *See Juan Pablo De Pax Jovel v. WTC Ventures Inc. et al.*, Case No. 86609-5-I,

Commissioner's Ruling Granting Discretionary Review in Part (Wash. App. Div. I July 8, 2024) (unpublished) (rejecting argument that "employment contracts that preclude employees from pursuing discrimination claims publicly in open court are void and unenforceable as against public policy" as RCW 49.44.085 preempted by FAA)¹; CP at 9-10, 72-100 (citing and attaching Carlile v. Waste Connections of Wash., No. 2:21-cv-00276-SAB, ECF No. 13 (E.D. Wash. Dec. 3, 2021) (unpublished) (in employment discrimination case, holding parties' arbitration provision was outside the scope of RCW 49.44.085 and holding RCW 49.44.085 is preempted by FAA); Logan v. Lithia of Seattle, Inc., No. 18-2-19068-1 SEA, Dkts. 23, 34 (King Cty. Sup. Ct. July 12, 2019) (unpublished) (in employment discrimination case, holding RCW 49.44.085 is preempted by federal law and requiring parties to arbitrate claims where arbitration agreement incorporated both the FAA and WUAA)).

Specifically, in relevant part:

• RCW 49.44.085 inherently disfavors arbitration agreements, as a person who enters into an arbitration agreement must

-

¹ Pursuant to GR 14.1(a), this unpublished decision is not binding.

necessarily waive their right to bring a civil action. Dr. Phillips blandly argues RCW 49.44.085 is facially neutral and applies to all contracts, not just arbitration agreements, but on its face—as in *Bonta*—it is not. Petition at 9; *Bonta*, 62 F.4th at 486.

exception to generally applicable law as it limits non-negotiable terms an employer may include in an agreement. As discussed in *Bonta*, "[i]t is irrelevant that the non-negotiable terms disapproved by [the California statute] could also apply to other sorts of contractual provisions (such as forum-selection clauses) because 'the Supreme Court has emphasized that the focus should be on whether the statute, either on its face or as applied, imposes burdens on arbitration agreements that do not apply to contracts generally." *Id.* at 487 (citing cases).

As with the California statute, RCW 49.44.085's deterrence of an employer's willingness to enter into an arbitration agreement is

antithetical to the FAA's "liberal federal policy favoring arbitration agreements." *Moses H. Cone*, 460 U.S. at 24.

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